
COUNCIL ON DEVELOPMENT FINANCE 
 

July 25, 2011 
PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES 374 

 
 

THOSE PRESENT: 
 
Mr. Andy Lubin, Chairperson    Mr. Gary Smith 
Senator Brian Bushweller    Mr. Stephen Bach  
Honorable Nancy Cook    Mrs. Rachael Mears 
Mr. Tom Gilligan     Mrs. Lee Porter 
Mr. Jack Riddle     Ms. Beverly Ennis 
Representative Darryl Scott    Ann Marie Johnson, DAG 

Mr. Jeff Stone 
Mrs. Bernice Whaley 

       Mrs. Karen Smith 
        

  
ALSO PRESENT:  Mr. Michael Morton, Controller General’s Office; Ms. Andrea 
Godfrey – Office of Management and Budget; Representing Projects: Sun Edge, LLC – 
Mr. David Gates;  Berkley Technology Services LLC – Mr. Josh Polan; Nanticoke 
Memorial Hospital – Mr. Darr Hall; Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. – Mr. John Carey; 
University of Delaware – Mr. David Singleton; and Benny L. Johnson representing 
Carpenters L.U. 626 
 
LOCATION:   Haslett Armory, 122 William Penn Street, Dover, Delaware  19901 
 
TIME:  9:00 A.M. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at 9:05 A.M. by Mr. Lubin, Chairperson, on Monday, 
July 25, 2011. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
Mr. Gilligan made a motion that the minutes of the June 27, 2011 Council on 
Development Finance meeting be approved as presented.  Senator Bushweller seconded 
the motion which was then adopted by unanimous vote. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Sun Edge, LLC (“Sun Edge” or the “Applicant”)  – The Applicant is requesting a loan 
in the total amount of $50,000.  This loan will be funded through the Strategic Fund 
Renewable Energy Facilities Revolving Loan Fund (RLF) in the amount of $25,000, and 



CDF Minutes 
Page 2 
July 25, 2011 
 
the Strategic Fund in the amount of $25,000.  The Applicant proposes to use the funds to 
expand its business located in New Castle County and to commercialize its novel solar 
concentrator products.  Sun Edge plans to conduct Research & Development, product 
assembly, and sales/marketing at its Delaware headquarters (the “Project”). 
 
Ms. DeHaven presented this request to the Council.   She introduced Mr. Gates and 
indicated that the president of the company, David Argentar was currently out of the 
country.  She further stated the following:  Mr. Gates works with the marketing and 
financing for the company; Sun Edge is an early stage start-up that has developed a novel 
concentrated photovoltaic rooftop solar technology that uses a water-filled concentrator 
to focus a large amount of sunlight onto a solar photovoltaic material.  The requested 
funds will be jointly funded through the Strategic Fund and the Strategic Fund 
Renewable Energy Facilities Revolving Loan Fund. 
 
Mr. Gates stated that Sun Edge has previously submitted its business plan and that the 
technology has been developed in partnership with the University of Delaware.  He stated 
that the initial tests have been done and the technology has been validated. 
 
Mr. Gates further indicated the following:  The owner has invested $150,000 of his 
personal funds in Sun Edge and that another $100,000 has been raised from three friends; 
Sun Edge will need to obtain another $50,000 from a financial institution.  They have had 
discussions with Solar Dock, a Delaware based business and other private developments 
are in progress. 
 
Mrs. DeHaven stated that this technology will use less energy.  Mr. Gates stated that this 
solution will be a low cost solution for rooftop solar energy cost. 
 
Mr. Riddle asked about the weight component and the volume of water required.  Mr. 
Gates stated that it is a very small concentrator and that the weight of the water is not an 
issue.  Mr. Riddle also asked about the investment funds.  Mr. Gates stated that they have 
about $250,000 of the $750,000 and hope to have the equity in place by the first quarter. 
 
Mr. Gilligan asked about the status of the patent.  Mr. Gates stated that the patent had 
been filed approximately a year ago and all indications have been positive thus far.  Mr. 
Bach stated that the international patent was filed in 2010.  He stated Sun Edge has been 
talking to regional banks and that they have been in touch with E3 Bank, a bank which 
focuses on solar energy.  Mr. Gates stated that he believed DEDO’s commitment would 
make it easier to get the additional funds needed. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none. 
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (i)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 



CDF Minutes 
Page 3 
July 25, 2011 
 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance, Mr. Gilligan made a motion 
that the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic 
Development Authority, approval of a loan in an amount not to exceed Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($50,000) to be disbursed from the Strategic Fund Renewable Energy Facilities 
Revolving Loan Fund, for the Project, contingent upon the approval remaining in effect 
through and including July 24, 2012.  Mr. Riddle seconded the motion, which was then 
adopted by unanimous vote.  
 
Berkley Technology Services LLC (“Berkley” or the “Applicant”) – The Applicant is 
requesting a grant from the Delaware Strategic Fund program in an amount up to 
$433,567.76.  The Applicant proposes to use the funds to expand its data center 
operations at a new facility located on Bellevue Parkway in Wilmington, Delaware (the 
“Project”). 
 
Mrs. Whaley presented this request to the Council.  She stated that Berkley is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of W. R. Berkley.  She also stated that Berkley provides information 
technology services including processing, consulting, software development, 
communications and information technology oversight to the approximately 45 insurance 
companies and related entities owned by W. R. Berkley Corporation.  
 
Mrs. Whaley indicated that Berkley has reached the limit of talent available in its 
Urbandale, Iowa location with approximately 250 people working in that location and 
that it has capacity issues with its current Wilmington site.  She stated that Berkley has 
found an ideal location in northern Delaware, at 101 Bellevue Parkway and plans to 
purchase that building.  Berkley anticipates hiring seventeen more people.  This proposed 
facility will be the primary data center for the entire corporation. 
 
Mrs. Whaley indicated that DEDO supports this project and is recommending a total 
Delaware Strategic Fund grant of $433,567.76 which includes a maximum of 
$133,567.76 as a job creation grant and a $300,000 capital expenditures grant. 
 
Mr. Polan explained that Berkley is a publicly traded property and casualty reinsurance 
company, focusing on commercial lines.  It has offices across the U.S., Europe, Asia and 
South America with approximately 100 employees in the corporate office and, 5,000 
employees worldwide. 
 



CDF Minutes 
Page 4 
July 25, 2011 
 
Mr. Polan stated that Berkley is interested in acquiring this building for use as its 
corporate data center.  He stated that this is the nerve center of Berkley.  They have 
primary offices in Wilmington and Iowa and the current space in Wilmington is leased, 
and has approximately 50 employees with salaries ranging from $50,000 and $100,000 
annually. 
 
Mr. Polan stated that Berkley assumes it will use 20,000 square feet for its operation but 
has not decided what it will do with the remaining space.  They intend to spend 
$6,000,000 to upgrade the mechanical systems.  He stated that they have to make sure the 
building will sustain winds up to 90 miles an hour; currently it is just below 60 miles per 
hour.  He stated that they will have to spend funds for a new roof and approximately 
$750,000 for “building hardening”, then additional money for furniture, fixtures, etc. 
 
Mr. Gilligan asked why Berkley chose Delaware for this expansion.  Mr. Polan stated 
that Berkley is comfortable with Delaware.  He stated that they had plenty of alternatives, 
but Berkley felt this building made the most sense. 
 
Mr. Riddle asked if this data center was currently somewhere else.  Mr. Polan stated that 
this new facility will replace the existing data center in Wilmington but will be 
substantially upgraded and expanded to allow for additional personnel. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none. 
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (i)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance, Mr. Riddle made a motion that 
the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic 
Development Authority, approval of a grant in an amount not to exceed Four Hundred 
Thirty-Three Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-Seven Dollars and Seventy-Six Cents 
($433,567.76) to be disbursed from the Delaware Strategic Fund, for the Project, 
contingent upon the approval remaining in effect through and including July 24, 2012.  
Representative Scott seconded the motion, which was then adopted by unanimous vote.  
 



CDF Minutes 
Page 5 
July 25, 2011 
 
Nanticoke Memorial Hospital (“Nanticoke” or the “Applicant”) - Nanticoke received 
a $4,489,729.32 loan on February 23, 2009, which was used for working capital.  On 
March 22, 2010, the Council approved a loan modification to that loan to allow the 
Applicant to term out the loan over a ten year time period.  Nanticoke is current and 
within the terms of its loan.  Today, the Applicant is requesting modifications to the 
existing loan and is also requesting a loan from the Delaware Strategic Fund program in 
an amount of $1,250,000.  The Applicant proposes to use the funds to construct a medical 
office building near its Seaford, Delaware location, to provide office space to its 
employed Physicians (the “Project). 
 
Mr. Riddle recused himself from all discussion and voting on this Project due to a 
possible conflict of interest. 
 
Mrs. Mears presented this request to the Council.  Mr. Hall stated that the request is for 
seventeen-month forbearance and for additional funds.  He stated that Nanticoke has not 
missed any payments.  He stated that today’s “cash on hand” is much closer to 100 days 
and debt service is closer to 1.8.  He stated that Nanticoke just finished its fiscal year, 
June 30, and reported its first profit in six years.  He stated that the new office complex 
would be used for a medical office building. 
 
Mr. Gilligan asked if Nanticoke would be putting the “deferred” money into escrow.  Mr. 
Hall stated the request for the forbearance is to allow Nanticoke to build additional equity 
and use its cash for the medical office building.  Mr. Lubin asked how the term of the 
loan would be affected.  Mr. Hall stated there would be a 17 month forbearance of 
payments which will extend the loan to an 11 year 7 month amortization.  Senator 
Bushweller asked how this would impact the Strategic Fund.  Mr. Lubin stated that it 
modestly reduces the cash coming back into the fund.  Mr. Hall stated that they currently 
have a $37,414.41 monthly payment.  Mr. Smith stated that it should be kept in mind that 
Nanticoke will be increasing its employment base and will be stimulating growth in 
Sussex County during challenging times.  He further stated that it does have a slight 
impact on DEDO’s cash flow but this is not seen as an obstacle.  Mr. Bach stated that 
DEDO does do cash flow analysis and modifications are taken into consideration.  He 
stated two tools are used for tracking.  One is the Cash Management Report which shows 
the balance, the approved projects and the pending projects which reflects DEDO’s net 
cash position.  The other tool is a cash flow module which gives DEDO the cash balance 
on a monthly basis for projects that extend over several months or years. 
 
Mr. Hall stated that Nanticoke is required by its bonds to have sixty days of cash on hand 
for loans.  This forbearance will allow Nanticoke to have a day and a half. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none. 
 
After duly considering the Applicant’s request, Senator Cook made a motion that the 
Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic 
Development Authority, an approval to amend the current loan agreements to reflect a 



CDF Minutes 
Page 6 
July 25, 2011 
 
seventeen month forbearance of payments pursuant to the Applicant’s current outstanding 
Delaware Strategic Fund loan, contingent upon the approval remaining in effect through 
and including July 24, 2012. Mr. Gilligan seconded the motion, which was then adopted 
by unanimous vote except for Mr. Riddle who abstained due to a possible conflict of 
interest. 
 
Mr. Hall stated that Nanticoke is going to construct a 45,000 square foot medical office 
building next to its north campus operation.  He stated that the total project should cost 
approximately $5,500,000.  He further stated that PNC will finance $4,250,000 with a ten 
year term at four percent.  With this new facility, Nanticoke will be able to provide office 
space for its medical staff.  Mr. Hall stated that DEDO’s financing actually will provide 
the bridge portion.  He stated that Nanticoke expects to pay this entire debt within three 
years.  Mr. Lubin asked if PNC was charging a fee and Mr. Hall stated he didn’t think so.  
Mr. Lubin asked if there was a cost savings for owning the land versus leasing the space.  
Mr. Hall stated that there is a savings in the first two years; after all are tenants are moved 
in, it evens out.  He stated that there are five new physicians coming to Nanticoke.  
Senator Bushweller asked if the physicians were employed by Nanticoke.  Mr. Hall stated 
that Nanticoke usually has them employed within three years and part of their contract 
allows them to pay no rent. 
 
Mr. Hall thanked the Council for their previous assistance and told them that Nanticoke 
was growing by leaps and bounds. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none. 
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (i)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance, Representative Scott made a 
motion that the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware 
Economic Development Authority, approval of a loan in an amount not to exceed One 
Million Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($1,250,000) to be disbursed from the 
Delaware Strategic Fund, for the Project, contingent upon the approval remaining in 
effect through and including July 24, 2012.  Mr. Gilligan seconded the motion, which 



CDF Minutes 
Page 7 
July 25, 2011 
 
was then adopted by unanimous vote except for Mr. Riddle who abstained due to a 
possible conflict of interest.  
 
Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. (“Citicorp” or the “Applicant”) - The Applicant is 
requesting a grant from the Delaware Strategic Fund program in an amount up to 
$3,000,000.  The Applicant proposes to use the funds to outfit its new facility in the 
Brandywine Building located in Wilmington, Delaware (the “Project”). 
 
Mr. Stone presented this request to the Council.  He stated that Citicorp will be 
establishing a new facility in downtown Wilmington in the Brandywine Building and will 
create at least 93 new jobs.  He stated that there could potentially be 200 jobs created.  
Mr. Stone stated that there are three different segments in DEDO’s incentive package.  
He stated that these positions are highly compensated positions. 
 
Mr. Carey stated that Citicorp opened its first facility in Delaware in 1932 with thirty 
employees.  He stated that there are currently 1800 employees in New Castle County.  He 
stated that the quality of life and the friendly environment makes Delaware a place 
Citicorp wants to grow.  He stated that Citicorp has decided to make a significant 
investment in this building. 
  
Senator Cook asked Mr. Carey to explain the jobs that are already here.  Mr. Carey stated 
that they anticipate having a minimum of 93 positions between now and the end of 2012.  
It was asked if Citicorp will keep the Pike Creek facility open.  Mr. Lubin asked how 
many employees would be retained at the Pike Creek facility.  Mr. Carey stated the 
facility holds 300 and Citicorp will move out 65. 
 
Senator Bushweller told Mr. Carey that he was very pleased that Citicorp was expanding 
in Wilmington and asked Mr. Carey to visit the idea of having an office in Dover as 
Citicorp previously had. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments.  Mr. Johnson, representing the 
Union, expressed his support of the Project emphasizing the need for construction jobs. 
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (i)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 



CDF Minutes 
Page 8 
July 25, 2011 
 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance, Senator Cook made a motion 
that the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic 
Development Authority, approval of a grant in an amount not to exceed Three Million 
Dollars ($3,000,000) to be disbursed from the Delaware Strategic Fund, for the Project, 
contingent upon the approval remaining in effect through and including July 24, 2012.  
Mr. Riddle seconded the motion, which was then adopted by unanimous vote.  
 
University of Delaware (the “University” or the “Applicant”) – The Applicant is 
requesting a grant from the Delaware Strategic Fund program in the amount of 
$7,000,000 over a three-year period.  The Applicant proposes to use the funds to assist in 
infrastructure costs at its Science and Technology Campus in Newark, Delaware (the 
“Project”). 
 
Mr. Lubin recused himself as Chairman, from all discussion and voting on this Project 
due to a possible conflict of interest.   Mr. Gilligan presided as Acting Chairperson for the 
University presentation. 
 
Mrs. Whaley presented this request to the Council. 
 
Mrs. Whaley stated at the June 27, 2011 CDF meeting, the CDF recommended approval 
for a $16,500,000 Delaware Strategic Fund grant for the Bloom Energy project.  Bloom 
Energy is an innovative fuel cell manufacturer that proposes to use those funds to 
establish a new manufacturing campus in Newark, Delaware.  The University Project will 
be significant for Bloom which will actually assist the University in rehabilitating the 
former Chrysler plant.  The University of Delaware has agreed to ground lease this parcel 
to Bloom and its vendors and suppliers rent free for twenty-five years.  As part of the 
agreement, the University agreed to assist in the infrastructure improvements and clean 
up this site. 
 
Mr. Singleton stated that he believes this is a unique opportunity for the State of 
Delaware.  He stated the most immediate challenge is to complete the required 
infrastructure improvements.  He stated that the concrete slab has to come out, there is a 
need for some small environmental remediation, and infrastructure improvements will 
need to be provided.  He stated that the University is looking for funding to begin a small 
portion of that work. 
 
Mr. Singleton stated that they anticipate having a work/play environment.  He stated that 
there would be some research, some manufacturing, possibly some residential units 
and/or a hotel.  He stated that he believes this will be a place that people will want to 
visit.  Mr. Singleton stated that they currently do not have other entities signed up for this 
space, but do have some real interest.  He believes that with Bloom coming to the site, it 
will entice others to come also.  He stated that the University is seriously looking at 
putting some of its projects at this site. 
 



CDF Minutes 
Page 9 
July 25, 2011 
 
Mr. Riddle stated that it was his understanding that the University purchased this property 
from Chrysler two years ago.  He asked how much the University had invested so far.  
Mr. Singleton stated that ninety percent of what is there now will be recycled.  He stated 
that anything that has economic value is being sold and the concrete will be ground up 
and used as fill in the future.  He stated this does not represent a cost to the University.  
Mr. Riddle asked if the $7,000,000 would be used for the entire parcel.  Mr. Singleton 
stated that even though plans usually change, he feels it will take care of what needs to be 
done.  He stated that the University is not a commercial developer and this is not viewed 
as a money maker.  He stated the University would be satisfied with a forty to fifty year 
development plan.  He did state that the University does need assistance from the State 
and private development to make this happen. 
 
Senator Bushweller asked about the disbursement of the funds.  Mrs. Whaley stated that 
the State forced the University to jump start when the State endorsed the Bloom project.  
Mr. Singleton stated that funds needed to be expended before Bloom has one job there.  
Mrs. Whaley stated that if for any reason Bloom changed its mind, the funding for the 
University will not be available.  She also stated that it is not expected that any 
transportation improvements will need to be made initially. 
 
Mr. Gilligan asked if there were any public comments.  Mr. Johnson, representing the 
Union, expressed his support of the Project emphasizing the need for construction jobs. 
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (i)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance, Senator Bushweller made a 
motion that the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware 
Economic Development Authority, approval of a grant in an amount not to exceed Seven 
Million Dollars ($7,000,000) over a period of three years, to be disbursed from the 
Delaware Strategic Fund, for the Project, contingent upon the approval remaining in 
effect through and including July 24, 2012.  Mr. Riddle seconded the motion, which was 
then adopted by unanimous vote except for Mr. Lubin who abstained due to a possible 
conflict of interest.  
 
At this time, Mr. Lubin resumed his position as Chairman of the Council. 



CDF Minutes 
Page 10 
July 25, 2011 
 
  
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:50 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Lee Porter, Secretary 
 
LKP 
 
cc:  Members of the Council on Development Finance 
      Director Alan Levin 
      Ann Marie Johnson, DAG 
 
The next CDF meeting is scheduled for Monday, August 22, 2011 at 9:00 A.M. at Buena 
Vista. 
 
 


